THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-002095

RECEIVED
DEC 05 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Jeanne Knollinger,

Appellant,

v.

Ryan Noel Oliver,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Ryan C. Andrews
Cobb Dill & Hammett, LLC
222 W. Coleman Blvd.
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464
(843) 936-6680 (p)
(843) 279-3177 (f)
randrews@cdhlawfirm.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-002095

Jeanne Knollinger,

Appellant,

v.

Ryan Noel Oliver,

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court abuse its discretion when it prohibited Appellant from introducing evidence of an Enterprise investigative report which contained Respondent's description of the accident; when it prohibited Appellant from introducing testimony about a witness's statement heard by both Appellant and Respondent immediately after the collision; and when it prohibited Appellant from introducing evidence and testimony regarding former Defendant Enterprise?
- II. Did the trial court err in denying Appellant's Motions for a New Trial and Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant filed the instant action in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas on April 21, 2016, against Respondent and Enterprise Leasing Company – Southeast LLC d/b/a Enterprise Rent-A-Car (herein referred to as “Enterprise”), alleging negligence against Respondent and negligent entrustment against Enterprise for damages Appellant suffered in a motor vehicle collision that occurred on December 11, 2014, with a vehicle owned by Enterprise and driven by Respondent. (*See R. pp. 10-20*). Enterprise retained counsel to represent both itself and Respondent. (*See R. pp. 21-25*). In their joint Answer, Respondent and Enterprise raised the affirmative defenses of Failure to State a Claim, Comparative Negligence, and the alleged Unconstitutionality of Punitive Damages. *See id.* Enterprise additionally made a counterclaim against Appellant for negligence alleging damages sustained by Enterprise's vehicle in the collision. *Id.* Appellant retained counsel for the counterclaim and filed a reply with the affirmative defenses of Comparative/Contributory negligence on September 1, 2016. (*R. pp. 26-30*).

The parties engaged in discovery and on October 11, 2017, Enterprise filed a motion for summary judgment regarding Appellant's claims of negligent entrustment. (*See R. pp. 30-46*). Additionally, on November 27, 2017, Appellant filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment

regarding Respondent's liability. (*See* R. pp. 47-69). The Honorable Deandrea G. Benjamin entered an order denying Appellant's Motion and Granting Enterprise's; however Enterprise remained a party under a general negligence theory. (*See* R. pp. 1-6). As trial approached, Respondent's and Enterprise's counsel inquired as to whether Appellant would agree to a dismissal of Enterprise's Counterclaim pursuant to Rule 40(j), SCRPC, with leave to restore. (*See* R. p. 381). Appellant denied such request, but consented to a Rule 41(a) Dismissal with Prejudice of the same. (*See* R. pp. 70, 382). Additionally, the parties consented to dismiss the remainder of Appellant's claims against Enterprise on August 31, 2018. (*See* R. p. 71).

The case against Respondent was called to trial on September 4, 2018, and on September 5, 2018, the jury entered a verdict in favor of Respondent. (*See* R. pp. 90-309). After the jury's dismissal, Appellant verbally moved for a new trial and judgment notwithstanding the verdict in which the court denied. (R. pp. 308-09). On September 17, 2018, Appellant moved pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC, to alter or amend the court's denial of motions. (R. pp. 76-79). Respondent filed a memorandum in opposition of the same and on October 23, 2018, the court entered judgment denying Appellant's request. (R. pp. 7-9, 80-83). On November 20, 2018, Appellant timely filed a Notice of Appeal and served the same upon Respondent. (R. pp. 84-85).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On December 11, 2014, Appellant and Respondent were involved in a motor vehicle collision on Garners Ferry Road in Columbia, South Carolina. (R. pp. 10-20). The collision occurred after Appellant established her vehicle on Garners Ferry Road after passing through a yield sign and turning from Pelham Road. (R. pp. 146-48). Respondent, driving a box truck owned by Enterprise, turned left on Garners Ferry Road from a restaurant/private driveway after looking left—the direction in which Appellant was coming—and then diverting his attention to

the right, before pulling out onto Garners Ferry Road. (R. pp. 10-19; 240-41). During the collision, Appellant's vehicle was dragged by Respondent's vehicle across the lanes of Garners Ferry Road, spun around, and came to rest facing the opposite direction in which she was originally traveling. (R. pp. 138-222). Immediately after the collision, both Appellant and Respondent heard an unknown witness yell that Appellant was not okay because Respondent pulled out in front of her. (R. pp. 116-17; *see also* R. pp. 57, 61). Appellant left the scene of the collision in an ambulance and sought medical treatment. (R. pp. 158-59). Respondent was ticketed for failure to yield the right-of-way; however the charge was later dismissed. (R. p. 118).

After litigation ensued and during the course of discovery, Appellant had requested numerous documents in possession of Respondent and Enterprise, including information regarding any and all reports about the collision in Enterprise's possession. Prior to Respondent's deposition on May 8, 2017, Enterprise produced some documentation concerning Appellant's request. The parties convened a 30(b)(6) deposition of Enterprise on September 26, 2017. At that time, counsel for Respondent and Enterprise produced numerous pages of documentation in its possession in which it had not previously produced. Among those documents was an Enterprise Accident Report—an internal report taken by Enterprise on December 13, 2014. (*See* R. p. 113). It states “[Respondent] was involved in an accident and pulled out in front of a car and was struck on the drivers [sic] side of the box.” (*See* R. p. 69).¹

Prior to trial, Appellant took the *de bene esse* deposition of Tyler Thiede, a former employee of Enterprise who, while employed with Enterprise, created the report. (R. pp. 111-12;

¹ Appellant had considered filing a motion with the court for the alleged discovery abuse. However, out of professional courtesy, he mistakenly chose not to do so as counsel for Respondent and Enterprise confided she had no idea such documents were in existence until that day as her client had failed to give them to her until that time. (*See* R. pp. 112-13).

see R. pp. 340-80). Thiede testified that, while the report may have contained slight paraphrasing from Respondent, there was no reason to believe that he put any inaccuracies in it and it was a fair and accurate representation of what Respondent told him. *Id.* Additionally, Respondent admitted that the Enterprise report was a “true, correct and genuine copy of the report, generated on or about December 13, 2014, by a person with knowledge of the report, and kept by Enterprise Rent-A-Care in the ordinary course of business.” (R. p. 89).

Enterprise later agreed to voluntarily dismiss its counterclaim against Appellant in March of 2018 with prejudice without the exchange of consideration. (*See* R. p. 70). Appellant additionally voluntarily dismissed her negligent claims against Enterprise on August 31, 2018. (R. p. 71).

At trial, Appellant subpoenaed two (2) witnesses of Enterprise and planned to introduce the *de bene esse* Deposition of Tyler Thiede. One of the subpoenaed witnesses described the above-mentioned Enterprise Report as “straightforward” and confirming there was “no reason to think [Enterprise’s] own employee embellished” its contents. (R. p. 112). That same witness would testify also that, but for Respondent signing a damage waiver with Enterprise, Enterprise would have filed suit against Respondent for damages to its vehicle but was prohibited from doing so. (*See* R. p. 114). However, over Appellant’s objections upon Respondent’s motion, Appellant was not permitted to call witnesses of Enterprise. (*See* R. pp. 109-117).

Additionally, Respondent moved in *limine* to prohibit the above discussed Enterprise Report, alleging in its written motion it contained a subjective opinion and not admissible under the business records exception to hearsay. (*See* R. pp. 72-75). Over Appellant’s objection, the court granted Respondent’s Motion, stating that it was not Respondent’s statement, purportedly because Respondent did not sign the same. (*See* R. pp. 111-14). The court in turn did not permit

the introduction of Thiede's *de bene esse* deposition. *Id.* The court held the Enterprise Report was hearsay, not admissible, and prohibited Appellant from impeaching Respondent with the same. *Id.*

The court also granted Respondent's motion to exclude any reference to the unknown witness at the collision that stated Respondent pulled out in front of Appellant over Appellant's argument that such statements fell under the present sense impression and excited utterance exception to hearsay. (R. pp. 116-18). The court ruled that it was not an excited utterance but provided no explanation as to whether it was a present sense impression. *Id.*

At trial, Appellant testified about how the collision occurred and her resulting injuries. (See R. pp. 138-192). Additionally, Appellant called Christopher Wright, Appellant's son, who arrived at the scene after the collision. (See R. pp. 209-221). Wright testified as to his observations at the scene of the collision, including that a trail of vehicle debris crossed all lanes of Garners Ferry Road to the entrance of the driveway from which Respondent turned. *Id.* Additionally, he testified as to the effects the collision had on his mother. *Id.* Appellant also called the investigating officer of the collision, Officer Allen Brinson, Jr., to testify as to his observations of the scene of the collision. (See R. pp. 193-208). He too testified that the trail of debris caused by the collision crossed all the lanes of Garners Ferry Road towards the driveway from which Respondent turned. *Id.* Respondent was the only witness to testify on his behalf, and he also confirmed that the collision in question occurred after Appellant's vehicle was fully established on Garners Ferry Road. (R. pp. 226-251). He also revealed that, immediately prior to pulling his vehicle in the roadway, he looked in the opposite direction from which Appellant was approaching and confirmed that it was not safe to do. *Id.*

During closing statements, counsel for Respondent requested that the jury put themselves “in the position of [Respondent].” (R. p. 281). The court sustained Appellant’s objection.² *Id.* The jury found Respondent was not negligent in causing the collision. (R. p. 305). After the jury was dismissed, the lower court denied Appellant’s Motions for New Trial and Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict and her Motion to Alter and Amend the same. For the following reasons, this Court should reverse the lower court’s decision.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court abused its discretion by prohibiting Appellant from introducing various pieces evidence and testimony at trial.

The trial court committed reversible error by excluding evidence and testimony Appellant sought to introduce at trial. Lower courts have “sound discretion in deciding whether to admit or exclude evidence. . . .” *Sullivan v. Davis*, 317 S.C. 462, 465, 454 S.E.2d 907, 909 (Ct. App. 1995) (citations omitted). However, the court’s decision to exclude evidence may be disturbed “upon a showing of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.” *Burke v. Republic Parking Sys., Inc.*, 421 S.C. 553, 558, 808 S.E.2d 626, 628 (Ct. App. 2017), *reh’g denied* (Jan. 11, 2018) (citations omitted). An abuse of discretion occurs when excluding evidence if “the conclusions of the trial court *either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.*” *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006) (emphasis added). Additionally, “[d]etermining whether prejudice exists depends on the circumstances and the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.” *Burke* at 558, 808 S.E.2d at 628 (citations omitted). Prejudice “means there is a

² After closing arguments, counsel for Appellant asked for a bench conference with the court to request a curative instruction regarding opposing counsel’s Golden Rule argument violation. The court denied the request; however, the request is not noted in the trial transcript, but is confirmed in Respondent’s Response to Appellant’s Motion to Alter and Amend; Order Denying Appellant’s Motion. (*See also* R. p. 284).

reasonable probability *the jury's verdict was influenced by the wrongly . . . excluded evidence.*"
Id. (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

Here, the trial court erred by prohibiting the Appellant from introducing various evidence and testimony at trial. Specifically, the court erred by excluding references to Enterprise's Vehicle Accident Report. The lower court also abused its discretion by prohibiting the Appellant from presenting testimony from both Appellant and Respondent concerning an unknown witness stating that Respondent's vehicle pulled out in front of Appellant's vehicle. Additionally, the lower court erred by excluding testimony of Enterprise's Counterclaim against Appellant and testimony from Enterprise employees.

A. The lower court erred by prohibiting any reference to the Enterprise Vehicle Accident Report including evidence from Enterprise employees' regarding the same.

The lower court erred by excluding the Enterprise Vehicle Accident Report and finding that the report was hearsay not subject to any exceptions due to the statement in the report not being "[Respondent's] statement." (R. p. 113). The language in the report at issue was not hearsay, but rather a statement of Respondent pursuant SCRE 801(d). Additionally, the report itself was admissible under the business records exception to hearsay. Lastly, the court at the very least, erred in prohibiting Appellant from impeaching the Respondent with the report.

1. The trial court committed reversible error by finding the language in the report was not the statement of Respondent and not a hearsay statement pursuant to South Carolina Rule of Evidence 801(d).

The Enterprise Report was and is a statement by Respondent against his own interest and is not hearsay pursuant to Rule 801(d), SCRE. As such, the trial court erroneously excluded the report as hearsay. Specifically, when the court reached its erroneous decision, it noted that the report is "not [Respondent's] statement" presumably because Respondent did not sign the report,

even though Respondent's counsel never denied that it was not the statement of Respondent. (R. pp. 112-13).

Rule 801(d) states that “[a] statement is not hearsay if – [t]he statement is offered against a party and is (A) the party’s own statement in either an individual or a representative capacity. . . .” Nothing in 801(d) requires that the statement be signed by a party in some way, and Appellant could not find a single South Carolina case requiring the same. Indeed, courts have permitted statements by party opponents without holding there must be a signature of the party. *See S.C. Dep’t or Revenue v. Meenaxi, Inc.*, 417 S.C. 639, 655-56, 790 S.E 792, 800-01 (Ct. App. 2016). In *Meenaxi*, this Court found that a party’s statements referenced in an investigative report generated by the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (herein referred to as “SLED”) admissible as statement offered against a party. *Id.* While the *Meenaxi* opinion did not mention whether the report was signed by the party, the Court did not state it was a requirement and permitted the introduction of that party’s language in the report under 801(d) and the report itself under the business records exception to hearsay. *Id. See also infra* I.A.2. Moreover, Courts have stated a writing, “[a]lthough unsigned . . . would be competent evidence *if it shows any admission against interest* on the part of the [party].” *Wilkinson v. Wilkinson*, 192 S.C. 497, 7 S.E.2d 447, 451 (1940) (emphasis added).

Here, the lower court erroneously determined the report was not Respondent’s statement because he did not sign it. However, the evidence in the record disputes this conclusion. First, as Appellant informed the trial court, Tyler Thiede—the former Enterprise employee who created the report—testified the “information [in the report] came from [Respondent] . . .” and that “[i]t was a fair and accurate representation of what [Respondent] told him.” (R. pp. 111-12). While the court was correct to acknowledge that Thiede, if had given the opportunity, would

testify that the report at issue was paraphrased, he confirmed that the report was Respondent's "own words[,]” and that this report was “more detailed” than reports he had completed in the past, and that the substance of the report came from Respondent. (R. p. 113; 366-68). In any event, Enterprise management confirmed that the report was “straightforward” and there was “no reason to think [Enterprise’s] own employee embellished” the contents of the same. (R. p. 112). As counsel for Respondent represented Enterprise as well during the scope of this litigation, Respondent should not be able to argue that this statement is not Respondent’s, as it was confirmed to be his statement by counsel’s other clients in this action. For the trial court to reach the conclusion that the report was not admissible because it was not Respondent’s statement was not only against the proposed testimony and evidence in the record offered by Appellant, but also based upon an error of law in that there is no precedent that a statement is inadmissible based upon whether a party signed the same.

In addition, the court’s decision to exclude the report undoubtedly prejudiced Appellant. The main issue at trial was a dispute of the facts in determining how the collision occurred, namely, whether Respondent pulled out in front of the Appellant. Indeed, the report at issue specifically states that Respondent informed Enterprise the facts of the collision were that he “was involved in an accident when his truck pulled out in front of another vehicle.” (R. p. 111; *see also* R. p. 69). As Appellant has continuously stated that Respondent pulled out in front of her, which he has continued to deny, and the jury returned a verdict in favor of Respondent, “a reasonable probability [exists] that the jury’s verdict was influenced by the . . . lack [of the excluded evidence].” *Jamison v. Ford Motor Co.*, 373 S.C. 248, 261, 644 S.E.2d 755, 761-62 (Ct. App. 2007). Accordingly, the trial court committed reversible error in excluding the Respondent’s statement on the accident report.

2. The trial court committed reversible error in not admitting the Enterprise Report under the Business Records Exception to Hearsay.

By not permitting the admission of the Enterprise Accident Report under 803(6), SCRE, the lower court committed reversible error. According to this exception, hearsay evidence is not excluded if it is:

A memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, in any form, of acts, events, conditions, or diagnoses, made at or near the time by, or from information transmitted by, a person with knowledge, if kept in the course of a regularly conducted business activity, and if it was the regular practice of that business activity to make the memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, all as shown by the testimony of the custodian or other qualified witness, unless the source of information or the method or circumstances of preparation indicate lack of trustworthiness. . . . Rule 803(6), SCRE.

“However, subjective opinions and judgments found in business records are not admissible.” *Duncan v. Ford Motor Co.*, 385 S.C. 119, 137, 682 S.E.2d 877, 886 (Ct. App. 2009); Rule 803(6), SCRE. Purely factual observations, however, are not considered subjective opinions or judgments. *State v. Key*, 277 S.C. 214, 216, 284 S.E.2d 781, 783 (1981). In *Key*, the court stated that medical records detailing the path of bullet in a gunshot wound victim were observations that provided no subjective opinion and were no different “from a report describing the location of damage to a motor vehicle.” *Id.* In addition, as discussed above, this court in *Meenaxi* permitted the introduction of a SLED report containing statements of a party opponent under the business records exception to hearsay as those statements were not subjective opinions, but rather, information in which that party opponent informed the SLED officer. 417 S.C. at 656, 790 S.E.2d at 801.

While the lower court did not state its reasoning for not permitting the introduction of the Enterprise Report other than it was allegedly not Respondent’s statement as he had not signed it,

the report should have been permitted under the business records exception to hearsay. From the outset, Respondent previously admitted that the Enterprise Report at issue was “a true, correct and genuine copy of the report, generated on or about 12/13/2014, by a person with knowledge of the report, and kept by Enterprise Rent-A-Car in the ordinary course of business.” (R. p. 89).

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