THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-002095

Jeanne Knollinger,

Appellant,

v.

Ryan Noel Oliver,

Respondent.

RECEIVED

DEC 04 2019

SC Court of Appeals

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Langdon Cheves III
Turner Padget Graham & Laney, P.A.
P.O. Box 1509
Greenville, S.C. 29602
(864) 552-4606 (p)
(864) 282-5970 (f)
lcheves@turnerpadget.com

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The issue as to whether the trial court properly excluded pieces of evidence at the pre-trial phase of the trial was not properly preserved for appellate review

Prior to the commencement of the trial, Respondent moved *in limine* to exclude, *inter alia*, a) internal documentation produced by Enterprise Leasing while it was a party to this matter; b) the *de benne esse* testimony of an ex-Enterprise Leasing employee; c) an oral statement from an unidentified witness allegedly made at the scene of the accident; and d) evidence that Enterprise Leasing had asserted a

counterclaim. The trial judge granted Respondent's motions as to these issues. Appellant did not proffer any of the evidence at issue during the pre-trial phase. R. at pp. 107-122. Once the trial began, Appellant never raised any of these evidentiary issues and did not proffer any evidence she deemed improperly excluded at the pre-trial stage. After the verdict for the Respondent, Appellant asserted in a post-trial motion that the Court had improperly excluded this evidence. Respondent contested Appellant's ability to raise the issue when she had not proffered this evidence during trial, and the Court denied Appellant's post-trial motion.

On appeal, Appellant again contends the trial court erred in not admitting certain evidence which she contends would have assisted her position as to liability. However, there was no evidence in the Record to assist the trial court in making this determination. When an objection stems from the court's exclusion of evidence, trial counsel should seek to proffer the excluded testimony and make any excluded physical evidence a court exhibit. The failure to proffer excluded evidence prevents consideration of the issue. State v. Nelson, 322 S.C. 377, 471 S.E.2d 767 (Ct. App. 1996), *rev'd on other grounds*, State v. Nelson, 331 S.C. 1, 501 S.E.2d 716 (1998); *see also* State v. Cabbagestalk, 281 S.C. 35, 314 S.E.2d 10 (1984) (failure to make an offer of proof prevents the appellate court from determining whether the exclusion of testimony is prejudicial and thus precludes the appellant from raising the issue on appeal).

A fundamental tenet of evidence law in South Carolina is that a ruling on a motion *in limine* is not the ultimate disposition on the admissibility of evidence,

which is subject to change based upon developments at trial. State v. Floyd, 295 S.C. 518, 521, 369 S.E.2d 842, 843 (1988) (“trial judges must not be held, conclusively, to preliminary rulings made without benefit of all pertinent and relevant evidence”). If the court excludes the evidence in its *in limine* ruling, the proponent must proffer it during trial to preserve any error on appeal. See Parr v. Gaines, 309 S.C. 477, 424 S.E.2d 515 (Ct. App. 1992) (Motions *in limine* are not final determinations of whether evidence will be admitted at trial); See also State v. Simpson, 325 S.C. 37, 479 S.E.2d 57 (1996) (a ruling *in limine* is not a final ruling on the admissibility of evidence; unless a final ruling is made, the issue is not preserved for review).

Here, all evidentiary rulings occurred pre-trial and prior to the introduction of any testimony or other forms of evidence. These rulings were preliminary, and the Appellant had ample opportunity to request the trial court redress any errors it had allegedly made once the map of the case unfolded. Appellant failed to do so; therefore, the evidence Appellant asks this Court to consider was not preserved. The failure to make an offer of proof prevents the appellate court from determining whether the exclusion of testimony is prejudicial and thus precludes the appellant from raising the issue on appeal.

It follows that this Court should not consider any other documentation which was not presented during the trial of this matter but has now been presented by Appellant in her submissions to the Record on Appeal. This documentation includes: a) emails between counsel (R. at pp. 381-382); b) Motions for Summary

Judgment and accompanying memoranda (R. at pp. 30-69); c) Court Orders not occurring during trial or otherwise preserved for appeal (R. at pp. 1-6); and d) Stipulations of Dismissal (R. at pp. 70-71). These documents have no bearing on this Court's determination of whether the trial judge committed reversible error, which should be predicated on this Court's analysis of the trial transcript and documents properly admitted into evidence.

II. The trial court properly excluded various pieces of evidence during the pre-trial phase of the trial

Strictly in the alternative, even if Appellant did properly preserve the evidentiary issues raised in the Motions *in Limine*, the trial court's exclusion of the subject evidence should be not disturbed on appeal. The admissibility of evidence lies within the sound discretion of the trial court whose decision will not be overturned on appeal absent a clear abuse of that discretion. Gamble v. Int'l Paper Realty Corp., 323 S.C. 367, 474 S.E.2d 438 (1996); Washington v. Whitaker, 317 S.C. 108, 451 S.E.2d 894 (1994).

A. Enterprise Vehicle Accident Report

As noted above, at the time of the subject accident, Respondent was operating a vehicle owned by Enterprise Leasing. Upon the vehicle's return to Enterprise Leasing, employee Tyler Thiede spoke to Respondent and completed a company-required report noting that the vehicle had been in an accident.¹ Thiede's notations in the Report were his own. There is no evidence Respondent endorsed or even saw the subject report. As the lower court noted in the pre-trial hearing, Respondent did

¹ At the risk of overkill, at no point did Appellant proffer this Report to the lower court.

not sign the report or show any indication he adopted the report as his own statement. R. at pp. 112-113. Therefore, the portion of the Enterprise Leasing report Appellant seeks to introduce is hearsay under Rule 802, S.C.R.E. and is not, as Appellant contends, admissible as either an admission or under the business records exception to the hearsay rule.

Rule 801(d)(2), S.C.R.E., sets forth the criteria for the admissibility of a party admission, none of which apply to this matter:

A statement is not hearsay if -

(2) Admission by Party-Opponent. The statement is offered against a party and is (A) the party's own statement in either an individual or a representative capacity, or (B) a statement of which the party has manifested an adoption or belief in its truth, or (C) a statement by a person authorized by the party to make a statement concerning the subject, or (D) a statement by the party's agent or servant concerning a matter within the scope of the agency or employment, made during the existence of the relationship, or (E) a statement by a coconspirator of a party during the course and in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Rule 801(d)(2), S.C.R.E.

The Enterprise Leasing employee completed the report, and there is no evidence Respondent manifested any belief in it (which again, he never saw), and no agency relationship between Enterprise Leasing and Respondent existed. Because the Enterprise report does not constitute an admission by Respondent, the trial court properly ruled it inadmissible.

Moreover, the Enterprise Leasing report is not admissible under the "business records" exception to the hearsay rule. First, according to Rule 803(6), S.C.R.E., "subjective opinions and judgments found in business records are not

admissible.” Id. Here, the Enterprise Leasing employee’s conclusion that the Respondent “was involved in an accident *when his truck pulled out in front of another vehicle*” is his opinion as to how the accident occurred and is not admissible. [Emphasis added]; See State v. Blackwell, 420 S.C. 127, 801 S.E.2d 713 (2017) (trial court correctly excluded document as it contained inadmissible subjective opinions and judgments); Benchoff v. Morgan, 302 S.C. 116, 394 S.E.2d 19 (Ct. App. 1990).

Second, the trial judge correctly determined that since the report was not seen, endorsed or otherwise adopted by Respondent, it lacked the required level of trustworthiness to render it reliable and admissible. Rule 803(6), S.C.R.E., was patterned after S.C. Code § 19-5-10 as well as its Federal counterpart, Rule 803(6), F.R.E. State v. Rice, 375 S.C. 302, 652 S.E.2d 409 (Ct. App. 2007). Both of these authorities require the element of trustworthiness prior to admissibility. S.C. Code § 19-5-10, otherwise known as the Uniform Business Record as Evidence Act, provides:

A record of an act, condition or event shall, insofar as relevant, be competent evidence if the custodian or other qualified witness testifies to its identity and the mode of its preparation, and if it was made in the regular course of business, at or near the time of the act, condition or event and *if, in the opinion of the court, the sources of information, method and time of preparation were such as to justify its admission.*

S.C. Code Ann. § 19-5-510 [emphasis added].

The South Carolina appellate courts have construed this statute to grant the trial court control to exclude or require additional proof if the authenticity or trustworthiness of the business record is suspect. See Kershaw County Dep't of Soc.

Servs. v. McCaskill, 276 S.C. 360, 362, 278 S.E.2d 771, 773 (1981). Moreover, Rule 803(6), F.R.E. sets forth:

. . . . A record of an act, event, condition, opinion, or diagnosis if:

- (A) the record was made at or near the time by—or from information transmitted by—someone with knowledge;
- (B) the record was kept in the course of a regularly conducted activity of a business, organization, occupation, or calling, whether or not for profit;
- (C) making the record was a regular practice of that activity;
- (D) all these conditions are shown by the testimony of the custodian or another qualified witness, or by a certification that complies with Rule 902(11) or (12) or with a statute permitting certification; and
- (E) *the opponent does not show that the source of information or the method or circumstances of preparation indicate a lack of trustworthiness.*

Rule 803(6), F.R.E. [emphasis added].

There is no allegation the Enterprise Leasing employee witnessed the subject accident. And as the Record reflects, the trial judge ascertained during pre-trial argument that the report was at best a paraphrased version of a conversation the Enterprise Leasing employee had with Respondent when he returned the vehicle: “All right. So, it’s not his statement, that’s hearsay, and it is excluded. I don’t see what any Enterprise witnesses have anything [sic] to do with whether this gentleman is at fault in an accident that allegedly caused injury to the Plaintiff.” R. at p. 113. Clearly, the trial judge made a discretionary decision that the information in question in the report was not trustworthy and deemed it inadmissible. This Court should not disturb that decision in appeal.

Appellant’s arguments as to admissibility do not pass muster. First, Appellant cites a self-serving quote from her attorney’s argument before the lower

court, which is not evidence. Second, Appellant mistakenly asserts that Respondent's acknowledgement as to the authenticity of the report is akin to an admission as to the truthfulness of the report's contents. Third, the examples Appellant has taken from case law of factual observations deemed admissible (e.g., "the path of a bullet" and "the location of damage to a motor vehicle") are not analogous to a third-party providing an opinion as to how an accident which he did not witness may have occurred.

Finally, the lower court did not err in not allowing Appellant to use the inadmissible report to impeach Respondent at trial. As the trial court correctly noted (and as reiterated above), the report was not Respondent's statement. It therefore cannot be deemed an "inconsistent statement" and used to impeach Respondent. Appellant is attempting to impeach a party with a non-party's statement, which is impermissible (and again, Appellant cites in her brief to her own attorney's argument as substantive evidence).

B. Unidentified Witness

At some undefined point after the accident, an unidentified witness allegedly said that Respondent "pulled out in front of" the Appellant's vehicle. The lower court properly excluded this hearsay statement, as the reasoning behind the hearsay prohibition is that the alleged declarant is not present at trial, placed under oath and available for cross-examination. See Orangeburg Dept. of Social Serv. v. Schlins, 291 S.C. 477, 354 S.E.2d 388 (1987). "The theory of the hearsay rule is that the many possible deficiencies, suppressions, sources of error and

untrustworthiness, which lie underneath the bare untested assertion of a witness, may be best brought to light and exposed by the test of cross examination." 5 J. Wigmore, Evidence in Trials at Common Law § 1362, at 3 (1974). Though Appellant never proffered through any testifying witness this alleged statement, she now contends the Court erred in not finding the statement was either the present sense impression of the unknown speaker or an excited utterance.

The "present sense impression" exception to the hearsay rule involves "[a] statement describing or explaining an event or condition made while the declarant was perceiving the event or condition, or immediately thereafter." Rule 803(1), S.C.R.E.; see State v. Washington, 2018 WL 3748430 (S.C. Ct. App. 2018) (20 to 25 minutes after an event left too much time for reflection and deliberate misrepresentation). Here, the alleged statement did not occur while the unknown declarant perceived the accident. Instead, Appellant contends the statement occurred immediately following the accident. In support, Appellant cites *the discovery deposition* testimony of the Respondent, which a) had no bearing on the trial of this matter and b) makes no reference to immediacy. R. at pp. 116-117. There being no evidence before the trial court of how long after perceiving the accident the unidentified witness allegedly made her statement, the trial court properly did not admit the statement as a present sense impression.

Moreover, in order to qualify as an excited utterance, the alleged statement must occur while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event. S.C.R.E. Rule 803(2). Again, there is no evidence in the Record as to when

this unknown witness allegedly made this statement; therefore, there is no evidence that the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the accident. And while a declarant's appearance, behavior and condition may be used to establish a state of excitement, here the Record lacks any such evidence. For these reasons, the trial court properly excluded an alleged statement made by an unidentified witness at some indeterminate amount of time after the accident.

C. Counterclaim and Enterprise Leasing Testimony

In her action against Respondent, Appellant claimed as an element of her damages the stress of having to defend against Enterprise Leasing's counterclaim. The trial judge properly prevented her from introducing such evidence. R. at pp. 114-116. At the outset of this disputed liability matter, Enterprise Leasing alleged Appellant was responsible for the damage to its vehicle. Enterprise Leasing voluntarily dismissed its counterclaim on March 9, 2018. R. at p. 70. After Appellant dismissed her claims against Enterprise Leasing on August 31, 2018, Enterprise Leasing was no longer a party to this Action, and Appellant waived all claims against Enterprise Leasing. R. at p. 71. Therefore, under the auspices of Rule 403, S.C.R.E., the dismissed counterclaim bore no relevance to identifying whom was responsible for this accident between Appellant and Respondent and what damages Respondent allegedly caused Appellant. It bears repeating that Appellant never proffered any of this evidence during the trial of this matter – Appellant cites to the contents of a discovery deposition as well as her own attorney's argument below as evidence of her position. For these reasons, the trial

court properly excluded evidence that a former party had filed (and voluntarily dismissed) a counterclaim prior to trial.

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